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EXPLANATORY NOTE
On April 8, 2021, we filed a Form 8-K (the “Initial 8-K”) to report our acquisition of RentPath Holdings, Inc. ("RentPath" and such acquisition,
the “Acquisition”).
We are amending the Initial 8-K to include the historical financial statements of RentPath and our unaudited pro forma combined financial
information giving effect to the Acquisition.
The pro forma financial information included in this report has been presented for informational purposes only. It does not purport to
represent the actual results of operations that we and RentPath would have achieved had the companies been combined during the periods
presented in the pro forma financial information and is not intended to project the future results of operations that the combined company
may achieve.
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
(a) Financial statements of businesses acquired.
The audited consolidated balance sheet of RentPath as of December 31, 2020, the related consolidated statement of comprehensive loss,
cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ deficit for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes thereto are filed as exhibit
99.1.
The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of RentPath as of March 31, 2021, the related consolidated statement of net income, cash flows,
and changes in stockholders’ deficit for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, and the related notes thereto are filed as exhibit 99.2.
(b) Pro forma financial information.
Our unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021, our unaudited pro forma combined statement of comprehensive
(loss) income for the three months ended March 31, 2021, our unaudited pro forma combined statement of comprehensive loss for the year
ended December 31, 2020, and the notes thereto, all giving effect to our acquisition of RentPath, are filed as exhibit 99.3.
(d) Exhibits.
Exhibit Number

Description

23.1
99.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
Audited consolidated balance sheet of RentPath as of December 31, 2020, the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ deficit for the year ended
December 31, 2020, and the related notes thereto
Unaudited consolidated balance sheet of RentPath as of March 31, 2021, the related consolidated statements
of net income, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ deficit for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, and the
related notes thereto
Unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet of as of March 31, 2021, unaudited pro forma combined
statement of comprehensive (loss) income for the three months ended March 31, 2021, unaudited pro forma
combined statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the notes thereto
Cover page interactive data file, submitted using inline XBRL

99.2
99.3
104
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
Redfin Corporation
(Registrant)
Date: June 21, 2021

/s/ Chris Nielsen
Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-219561, 333-223163, 333-229679, 333-236393, and 333253456 on Form S-8 of Redfin Corporation of our report dated May 27, 2021, relating to the financial statements of RentPath Holdings, Inc.
and its subsidiaries (Debtors-in-Possession) appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K of Redfin Corporation dated June 21, 2021.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
June 21, 2021
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Deloitte & Touche LLP
191 Peachtree Street NE
Suite 2000
Atlanta GA 30303-1943
Tel: +1404 631 2000
www.deloitte.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Stockholder of
RentPath Holdings, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of RentPath Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (Debtors-inPossession) (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
RentPath Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Emergence from Bankruptcy
As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on April 1, 2021, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming the
Company’s plan of reorganization which became effective on April 2, 2021. As a result of the confirmed plan of reorganization, title to
substantially all assets and responsibility for certain liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries were assigned to RentPath Holdings, Inc.
Immediately thereafter, Redfin Corporation purchased all of the equity of the reorganized RentPath Holdings, Inc. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
May 27, 2021
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RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
December 31, 2020
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,500)
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $87,274)
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Total assets

$

Liabilities and stockholders' deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Debtors-in-possession financing
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liability, net
Other non-current liabilities
Liabilities subject to compromise
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

11,178
27,010
8,642
5,166
51,996
22,175
110,017
307,705
17
491,910

3,166
26,534
88,593
118,293
13,172
7,002
713,003
851,470

Stockholders’ deficit
Common stock - $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 411,743,505 shares issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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4,117
176,865
(540,542)
(359,560)
491,910

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss
(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue, net
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of property and equipment)
Marketing and selling
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Reorganization costs
Interest expense
Other income, net
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations before benefit for income taxes
Benefit for income taxes
Net loss

$

Year Ended
December 31, 2020
194,389
16,670
140,389
31,666
20,517
1,742
68,491
30,257
(5,895)
303,837
(109,448)
3,104
(106,344)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Reclassification adjustments for realized losses on cash flow hedges included in net loss
$

Comprehensive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,824
(103,520)

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Deficit
(Dollars in thousands)

Common Stock
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss
Non-cash charges for stock-based compensation
Issuances of common stock related to vesting of restricted stock
units
Balance as of December 31, 2020

Shares
411,687,114
—
—

$

Par Value
4,116
—
—

—
56,391
411,743,505

—
1
4,117

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Total
Additional
Accumulated
Income (Loss), Stockholders'
Paid-in Capital
Deficit
net
Deficit
$
176,267 $
(434,198) $
(2,824) $
(256,639)
—
(106,344)
—
(106,344)
—
—
2,824
2,824
(103,520)
599
—
—
599
—
(1)
—
—
$
176,865 $
(540,542) $
— $
(359,560)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash reorganization costs
Non-cash accretion of debtors-in-possession financing redemption premium
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Bad debt expense
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Other, net
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Other, net
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from debtor-in-possession financing, net
Payments for debtor-in-possession financing fees
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year

$

(106,344)
26,625
15,287
14,519
599
(4,000)
1,067
1,409
3,102
2,509
22,211
50
(22,966)
(17,175)
1
(17,174)

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year
Supplemental information:
Cash paid for reorganization costs included in cash flows used in operating activities
Cash paid for interest, including interest on debt and derivative financial instruments, net
Cash refunded for income taxes, net
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Accrued property and equipment acquisitions

$

45,464
5,084
(468)

$

886

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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74,074
(4,224)
69,850
29,710
8,478
38,188

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC.
Debtors-In-Possession
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of RentPath Holdings, Inc. (“Holdings”) include the accounts of RentPath, LLC and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “RentPath”). In these notes, unless the context specifies otherwise, Holdings and its subsidiaries, are referred to as
the “Company.”
Holdings does not have independent operations, and, through its operating subsidiaries, is a digital marketing company focused on the
residential rental real estate market. The Company’s listing sites, including ApartmentGuide.com, Rent.com, Rentals.com and
LiveLovely.com, are targeted for the apartment and other rental property sectors of the residential real estate industry and are provided free
to consumers through a combination of mobile and desktop platforms. The Company’s services also help simplify the renting process and
offer innovative solutions for renters and property managers. Revenue is primarily derived from providing advertiser clients, principally
property management companies, private owners/landlords and real estate professionals, with services that generate leads and leases.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Filing – During 2019, a continued shifting competitive landscape and increased competition from numerous sources
resulted in declining revenues and necessitated an increase in the Company’s marketing spend and promotions to maintain the flow of leads.
As a result, the Company’s profitability declined, leaving the Company with limited liquidity, highly leveraged and unable to make a
mandatory $2.2 million repayment on its revolving credit facility. The failure to repay this balance resulted in the Company defaulting on its
2014 Bank Credit Facility agreement as discussed in Note 7, Borrowings.
On February 12, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), Holdings and each of its subsidiaries (collectively, “Debtors”) commenced with the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (“Bankruptcy Court”) voluntary cases under chapter 11 (“Chapter 11 Cases”) of title 11 of the
United States Code (“Bankruptcy Code”). Certain of the Company’s prepetition lenders and the Company’s prepetition equity sponsors,
committed to effectuate a Chapter 11 plan (“Plan”) that contemplated the sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets pursuant to a
Restructuring Support Agreement (“RSA”), dated February 11, 2020.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 852, Reorganizations (“ASC 852”). See Note 3, Voluntary
Reorganization Under Chapter 11, for further details.
COVID-19 Impact – During March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the rapidly growing coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak to
be a global pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted health and economic conditions throughout the United States. To
date, COVID-19 has not had a significant impact on our business. The Company has and will continue to assess the current and future
business risks related to COVID-19 as new information becomes available. Although we currently expect that any disruptive impact of
COVID-19 on our business will be temporary, this situation continues to evolve and therefore we cannot predict the extent to which COVID19 will directly or indirectly affect the Company’s future financial position, results from operations, cash flows and liquidity.
The Company elected to defer eligible payroll taxes under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act")
beginning in May 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the Company deferred $2.1 million. Half of the liability is included in accrued expenses
and other and the other half is included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. The liability will be due in two equal
installments in December 2021 and 2022.
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Bankruptcy Accounting. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with ASC 852. ASC 852 requires the
presentation of liabilities subject to compromise and certain other amounts relevant during Chapter 11 Cases.
Use of Estimates. The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant accounting
estimates include the establishment of the allowance for doubtful accounts; internal-use software development costs; liabilities subject to
compromise; the cost of stock-based compensation; income taxes, including the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and uncertain
tax positions and tax-related liabilities; the recoverability and lives of long-lived assets, including goodwill, trade names and
trademarks and customer relationship intangibles; and assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash. Management considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90
days or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash represents legally restricted amounts being held for deposits, professional fees and
other costs of the Chapter 11 Cases.
The Company’s banking arrangements allow it to fund outstanding checks drawn on zero-balance disbursement accounts when presented to
the financial institution for payment, resulting in book overdrafts. Book overdrafts in the amount of $0.1 million are included in accounts
payable in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 and are reflected as an operating activity in
the consolidated statement of cash flows.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Company’s consolidated
statement of cash flows:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$
$

11,178
27,010
38,188

Concentrations of Credit Risk. Substantially all of the Company’s trade receivables are from advertising clients located throughout the United
States. No individual advertiser comprised of more than 2.5% of the Company’s consolidated total revenue for the year ended December 31,
2020. The allowance for uncollectible accounts is established based on the Company’s historical collections experience, knowledge of the
customer, and the condition of the general economy and industry as a whole. The Company believes its allowance for doubtful accounts is
sufficient based on the credit exposure outstanding as of December 31, 2020.
Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of
property and equipment, including the amortization of leasehold improvements, is provided at rates based on the estimated useful lives or
lease terms, if shorter, using the straight-line method. Improvements which extend the lives of assets are capitalized, while costs for
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
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Included in property and equipment, net are costs incurred in developing or obtaining internal-use software. Costs incurred in the preliminary
project stage along with costs for maintenance and training are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs are amortized over a period of not
more than three years using the straight-line method.
Direct internal and external costs associated with the development of the features, functionality and content of the Company’s websites
incurred during the application and infrastructure development phase have also been capitalized and are included in property and equipment,
net. Typical capitalized costs include, but are not limited to, acquisition and development of software tools required for the development and
operation of the websites and costs incurred to develop and obtain graphics and text for the websites. These capitalized costs are amortized
over a period of not more than two years using the straight-line method. Capitalized software costs are subject to impairment evaluation. As
of December 31, 2020, the net book value of capitalized software was $18.8 million.
Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill, representing the excess of costs over the fair value of assets of acquired
businesses, and indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily trade names and trademarks, are not amortized, but instead tested for
impairment at least annually. The Company’s annual impairment testing date is October 31. All other intangible assets are amortized over
their estimated useful lives in a manner reflecting the pattern in which the economic benefit of the assets are consumed. Trade names and
trademarks are considered to have an indefinite life unless, in management’s judgment, there exists the possibility that the brand may cease
to be used at some future date.
All of the Company’s goodwill relates to a single reporting unit, which has a negative carrying amount.
GAAP permits an initial assessment of qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinitelived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount and also provides a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the
quantitative impairment testing otherwise required.
Fair value for trade names and trademarks is determined by using management’s expectations of revenue during a forecast period plus an
expected residual value, both of which are multiplied by a royalty rate representing cash flows that could be derived from use of the trade
names and trademarks; a discount factor approximating the weighted-average cost of capital for the reporting unit to which the trade names
and trademarks are related using market participant assumptions; and the effective federal and state tax rate.
In addition to the annual impairment test, an assessment is also required whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
There were no impairments of goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Long-Lived Assets. The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events and circumstances indicate assets might be
impaired. When such reviews are conducted, the Company uses an estimate of undiscounted cash flows over the remaining lives of the
assets to measure recoverability. If the estimated cash flows are less than the carrying value of an asset, the loss is measured as the amount
by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds fair value.
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Income Taxes. The Company utilizes an asset and liability approach for the accounting and reporting of income taxes. The benefit for income
taxes is comprised of taxes that are currently payable and deferred taxes that relate to temporary differences between the basis for financial
reporting purposes and the tax basis of assets and liabilities that will result in deductible or taxable amounts in future years when such assets
and liabilities are recovered or settled, respectively. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled. Recognition of certain deferred tax
assets is based upon management’s belief that, as determined by historical earnings and anticipated future earnings, normal operations or
available tax planning strategies will generate sufficient future taxable income to realize these benefits. A significant portion of the Company’s
deferred tax assets are net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”), which have lives of up to 20 years. When, in the opinion of management, it
is “more likely than not” that a net deferred tax asset will be realized, no valuation allowance is required.
In order to be recognized, benefits arising from uncertain tax positions must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by
taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. The liability for uncertain tax positions is included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the benefit for income taxes.
Deferred Debt Financing Costs. Deferred financing costs pertaining to long-term debt are amortized using the effective interest method over
the terms of the related indebtedness. Deferred financing costs pertaining to revolving credit facilities are amortized using the straight-line
method over the terms of the facilities. Prior to the Petition Date, the amortization of deferred debt financing costs were reported as interest
expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Company recorded $0.6 million of amortization of deferred debt financing
costs during the year ended December 31, 2020. Prior to the Petition Date, deferred debt financing costs were presented in the consolidated
balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the debt to which they relate, with the exception of deferred financing fees
related to revolving credit facilities, which were included in other non-current assets. Subsequent to the Petition Date, $11.1 million of
unamortized deferred debt financing costs associated with prepetition debt classified as liabilities subject to compromise was written off as
reorganization costs in the Company’s consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.
Stock-Based Compensation. The Company sponsors plans that provide for the grant of stock-based compensation awards, including stock
options, restricted stock units and restricted stock.
The Company expenses the fair value of stock-based compensation for all grants, modifications or settlements. The cost of stock-based
compensation, including service-based awards and performance-based awards, is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the
awards and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award, giving effect to forfeited
awards and, in the case of performance-based awards, the likelihood that the performance criteria will be met. Prevesting forfeiture of awards
results in a reversal of compensation cost, whereas post-vest cancellation of awards does not.
The Company calculates the grant date fair value of stock options primarily using the Black-Scholes pricing model. Option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate of the Company’s stock options. The grant date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock
units is measured based on the estimated fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Revenue Recognition. The Company’s advertising revenue is primarily comprised of subscription-based product offerings for internet listing
services, as well as lead management solutions and digital marketing.
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The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

•

Determination of the transaction price

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

•

Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised services to customers over time in an amount that reflects the consideration the
Company expects to receive in exchange for those services. Revenues from subscription-based services are recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the contract which generally have a term less than one year. Revenue is presented net of sales allowances, which are
not material.
The objective of determining the transaction price is to estimate the amount of consideration the Company is due in exchange for its services.
The transaction price is generally determined by the stated price in the contract, excluding any related sales taxes.
The Company enters into contracts that can include various combinations of subscription services, which are capable of being distinct and
accounted for as separate performance obligations. Generally, the combinations of subscription services are fulfilled concurrently and are coterminus, which results in revenue for the performance obligations being recognized simultaneously.
The Company’s contracts do not contain any refund provisions other than in the event of the Company’s non-performance or breach.
The Company invoices customers monthly, primarily at the beginning of each month, for services to be performed during that month.
Amounts invoiced to customers are generally due and payable upon receipt of invoice. Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the
timing of invoicing to customers. The Company records an unbilled receivable when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing, which creates a
contract asset. The Company had contract assets of $0.2 million as of December 31, 2020. The contract assets are all current and included
in accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not have any material deferred revenue as of December 31,
2020.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales is comprised of the cost of digital marketing that is purchased from third parties for the benefit of the Company’s
customers. These costs are expensed as incurred.
Advertising Costs. The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs include e-commerce and other media advertising.
Advertising costs were approximately $66.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Fair Value Measurements. GAAP prescribes methods for measuring fair value and establishes a three-tiered hierarchy to prioritize inputs
used to measure fair value. Those tiers are defined as follows:
•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability
to access at the measurement date

•

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; if the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must be observable for substantially the full term
of the asset or liability

•

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

12

The highest priority in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value is placed on the use of Level 1 inputs, while the lowest priority is placed on
the use of Level 3 inputs.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted
Fair Value Measurement. In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-13, Disclosure Framework—
Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This ASU was issued to eliminate certain disclosure requirements for
fair value measurements, and add and modify other disclosure requirements, as part of its disclosure framework project.
The Company adopted ASU 2018-13 on January 1, 2020. The adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and OtherInternal-Use Software. This ASU aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a
service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. Capitalized
implementation costs should be amortized over the term of the service contract on a straight-line basis. This ASU also clarifies the
presentation requirements for reporting such costs in the same line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as the fees
associated with the hosting element of the arrangement and classify payments for capitalized implementation costs in the consolidated
statement of cash flows in the same manner as payments made for fees associated with the hosting element. Also, the capitalized
implementation costs in the consolidated balance sheet are required to be reported in the same line item that a prepayment for the fees of
the associated hosting arrangement would be presented. This ASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with
early adoption permitted.
The Company adopted ASU 2018-15 on January 1, 2020. The adoption did not have material impacts on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
Income Taxes. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes. This ASU is intended to simplify various aspects related to
accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Accounting Standards Codification 740,
Income Tax and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application.
The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2021. The adoption did not have material impacts on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
To be Adopted
Leases. In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. This ASU requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for virtually all leases (other than leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease). The liability to be recognized equals the
present value of the future lease payments, while the asset is based on the liability, subject to adjustment (e.g., for initial direct costs). For
purposes of the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, the ASU retains a dual model, requiring leases to be classified as either
operating or finance. Classification will be based on criteria that are largely similar to those already existing.
The FASB subsequently issued multiple ASUs that amend ASU 2016-02 and provide additional implementation guidance and delayed the
effective date.
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This ASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. The ASU may be adopted
using a modified retrospective transition or adopted prospectively with a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
deficit in the period of adoption.
The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 when required and is still assessing the impact this ASU will have on its consolidated financial
statements.
Reference Rate Reform. In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform. This ASU provides guidance, optional
expedients and exceptions that reference London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate expected to be discontinued
due to reference rate reform. The standard was effective upon issuance and can be applied through December 31, 2022. The Company has
debt with interest rates that reference LIBOR, and therefore, will adopt this standard when LIBOR is discontinued.
Note 3. Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11
Key Events and Filing Under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code
During 2019, a continued shifting competitive landscape and increased competition from numerous sources resulted in declining revenues
and necessitated an increase in the Company’s marketing spend and promotions to maintain the flow of leads. As a result, the Company’s
profitability declined, leaving the Company with limited liquidity, highly leveraged and unable to make a mandatory $2.2 million repayment on
its revolving credit facility. The failure to repay this balance resulted in the Company defaulting on its 2014 Bank Credit Facility agreement as
discussed in Note 7, Borrowings.
On the Petition Date, the Debtors commenced with the Bankruptcy Court voluntary Chapter 11 Cases. Certain of the Company’s prepetition
lenders and the Company’s prepetition equity sponsors, committed to effectuate a Plan that contemplated the sale of substantially all of the
Company’s assets pursuant to the RSA.
Shortly after commencing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors entered into an agreement with certain prepetition lenders to provide the
Debtors with approximately $74.1 million of debtors-in-possession financing (“DIP Financing”) to pay ordinary-course operating expenses,
finance the Chapter 11 Cases, and provide the Debtors with flexibility to consummate the transactions contemplated by the RSA. On March
10, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the DIP Financing on a final basis.
Prior to commencing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company entered into a stalking horse asset purchase agreement (“Stalking Horse APA”)
with an affiliate of CoStar Group, Inc. (“CoStar”). As set forth in the Stalking Horse APA, the stalking horse bid provides for the going-concern
sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets for an aggregate purchase price equal to $587.5 million in cash, plus the assumption of
certain liabilities (the “Stalking Horse Bid”). The Stalking Horse Bid included a $58.8 million break-up fee (the “Break-Up Fee”) in which
CoStar would pay the Company if the sale was not consummated and certain other conditions were met. Additionally, pursuant to the RSA,
certain of the Company’s prepetition lenders agreed to backstop the Debtors’ sale process and, prior to commencing the Chapter 11 Cases,
submitted a binding credit bid of First Lien Claims (“Credit Bid”) in the amount of $492.7 million for the Debtors’ business.
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Other than the Stalking Horse Bid and the Credit Bid, the Debtors did not receive any additional bids by the bid deadline set forth in the
procedures governing the Debtors’ sale process. Accordingly, on March 26, 2020, the Debtors filed a notice on the docket of the Chapter 11
Cases designating the Stalking Horse Bid as the successful bid and the Credit Bid as the back-up bid. The closing of the transaction
contemplated by the Stalking Horse Bid was subject to various conditions, including approval by the Bankruptcy Court and certain regulatory
approvals. On June 10, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ plan, which contemplated the sale of the Debtors’ business to
CoStar pursuant to the Stalking Horse APA or, in the alternative, if the Debtors were unable to consummate the Stalking Horse APA, the
Credit Bid, which served as the back-up bid.
In April 2020, the Company and CoStar each received a request for additional information from the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the
“FTC”) with respect to the acquisition. The FTC’s additional request extended the waiting period imposed by the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976 until the parties completed the compliance process and the FTC completed its review of the substance of the
parties’ submission. On July 29, 2020, CoStar exercised its option pursuant to the Stalking Horse APA to extend the date after which either
the Company or CoStar may terminate the Stalking Horse APA if the transaction had not closed by August 12, 2020 (the “Outside Date”) for
an additional three months until November 12, 2020 in exchange for payment of $7.5 million which the Company recorded as other income,
net in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. On November 12, 2020, although the FTC process remained ongoing, CoStar
elected not to exercise its option under the Stalking Horse Bid to further extend the Outside Date beyond November 12, 2020. Accordingly,
the Outside Date passed on November 12, 2020. On November 30, 2020, the FTC commenced an administrative action and authorized an
action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia (which commenced on December 3, 2020), to block the Company’s
proposed acquisition by CoStar. On December 29, 2020, the Company delivered a termination notice to CoStar terminating the Stalking
Horse APA and requesting payment of the $58.8 million Break-Up Fee. On the same day, the Company provided notice of such termination
to all parties in interest in the Chapter 11 Cases. In January 2021, CoStar filed a complaint commencing an adversary proceeding in the
Chapter 11 Cases seeking, among other things, a declaration that the Company was not entitled to the Break-Up Fee. In February 2021, the
Company and CoStar reached a settlement with respect to the Break-Up Fee, and in March 2021, the settlement was approved by the
Bankruptcy Court and the Company received a $52.0 million Break-Up Fee from CoStar.
Following the termination of the Stalking Horse APA, the Company once again began to review its strategic options, including whether to
seek to consummate the Plan pursuant to the Credit Bid. In connection therewith, the Company and its advisors received outreach from
multiple third parties interested in pursuing a sale of the Debtors’ business and the Debtors also contacted multiple other potential acquirers.
After several weeks of extensive negotiations, the Debtors received multiple bids for the going concern sale of substantially all of the Debtors’
assets or interests in the Debtor entity owning all or substantially all of the Debtors’ assets, including a cash bid from Redfin Corporation
(“Redfin”), a real estate brokerage company, for $608.0 million in cash, plus the assumption of certain liabilities (the “Third Party APA”).
The Debtors, the Board of Directors and the special committee of the Board of Directors determined that Redfin’s cash bid presented the
most value-maximizing transaction possible and entered into the third party bid for the sale of interest in the debtor entity owning all or
substantially all of the Debtors’ assets in Holdings (“Third Party Sale Transaction”). The Third Party Sale Transaction would not include the
accounts of RentPath, LLC and its subsidiaries.
On February 26, 2021 the Debtors filed an amended plan of reorganization (the “Amended Plan”) with the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to
which the Debtors sought, among other things, to consummate the Third Party Sale Transaction.
On March 29, 2021, the waiting period for the FTC’s review of the Third Party APA expired, and on April, 1, 2021, the Debtors received
approval of the Amended Plan and the Third Party Sale Transaction at the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation and sale hearing.
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On April 1, 2021, in connection with implementation of the Amended Plan pursuant to the Third Party Sale Transaction, Holdings, formed a
Delaware limited liability company, RP Wind Down, LLC, which checked the box to be treated as a corporation effective as of the date of
formation to serve as Wind Down Co under the Amended Plan.
On April 2, 2021, the Company satisfied the all of the conditions precedent to the effective date set forth within the Amended Plan such that
the plan was substantially consummated (the “Effective Date”). Pursuant to the confirmed Amended Plan, the significant transactions that
occurred on the Effective Date and the terms defined by the Amended Plan were as follows:
•

Third Party Sale Transaction: The Debtors and Redfin consummated the Third Party Sale Transaction, pursuant to which following
the discharge pursuant to Section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code, the transfer of Acquired Assets free and clear of Liens (other than
Permitted Liens) and Assumed Liabilities from RentPath, LLC and its subsidiaries to Holdings, and the transfer of Excluded Assets
and Excluded Liabilities from the Debtors to RP Wind Down, LLC, Holdings transferred 100% of the interests in RP Wind Down, LLC
to the Plan Administrator.

•

DIP Claims: Claims associated with the DIP Financing were indefeasibly paid in full, in cash. Contemporaneously, the DIP Financing
and related documents were deemed cancelled, all DIP commitments were deemed terminated, all DIP liens were automatically
terminated, and all collateral subject to such DIP liens were automatically released.

•

First Lien Claims: Each such holder received, up to the full amount of such holder’s allowed first lien claim, its pro rata share of the
Sale Proceeds Distributable Consideration less the Second Lien Claims Recovery Cash Pool less the Second Lien Sale Distribution
Recovery. In addition, on the Effective Date, the First Lien Credit Agreement and related documents were deemed cancelled,
discharged and of no force or effect.

•

Second Lien Claims: Each such holder received, its pro rata share of: (i) the Second Lien Claims Recovery Cash Pool and (ii) the
Second Lien Sale Distribution Recovery. In addition, on the Effective Date, the Second Lien Credit Agreement and related
documents were deemed cancelled, discharged and of no force or effect.

•

General Unsecured Claims: Each such holder was paid in full in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular
transaction giving rise to such Allowed General Unsecured Claim.

•

Holdings Equity Interests: Equity interests in Holdings were cancelled, released, and extinguished and there were no distributions for
holders of Holdings equity interests.

On April 5, 2021, RentPath, LLC and each of its subsidiaries other than Consumer Source Holdings LLC merged into RP Wind Down, LLC.
Going Concern
During the Company’s bankruptcy proceedings and prior to the Bankruptcy Court’s entry of an order confirming the Debtors’ Amended Plan,
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon, among other things, its ability to develop and successfully
implement a plan of reorganization and obtain creditor acceptance and confirmation under the Bankruptcy Code, and either
(i) obtain exit financing sources sufficient to meet the Company’s future obligations or (ii) consummate a sale of the Company to a third party.
The Company’s debt obligations and uncertainties related to the bankruptcy process raised substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a
going concern.
As a result of the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of the Amended Plan and emergence from bankruptcy on April 2, 2021, management
concluded there is no longer substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Liabilities Subject to Compromise
Liabilities subject to compromise refers to prepetition obligations which may be affected by the Chapter 11 process. These amounts
represent the Company’s current estimate of known or potential obligations to be resolved in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.
Differences between the liabilities the Company has estimated and the claims filed, will be investigated and resolved in connection with the
claims resolution process. The Company will continue to evaluate these liabilities throughout the Chapter 11 Cases and adjust amounts as
necessary. Such adjustments may be material.
The following table summarizes the components of liabilities subject to compromise included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Debt subject to compromise:
Revolving credit facility
Term Loan – First Lien
Secured creditors’ claim – First Lien
Term Loan – Second Lien
Accrued interest
Accounts payable
Tax-related liabilities
Customer refund liabilities
Restructuring liabilities
Other accrued expenses

$

37,350
479,750
4,772
170,000
11,084
1,877
4,560
2,900
562
148
713,003

$

Reorganization Costs
The Company has incurred and will continue to incur significant costs associated with the Chapter 11 Cases. Reorganization costs represent
costs directly associated with the Chapter 11 Cases. Such costs primarily include professional fees, the write-off of deferred debt financing
costs associated with prepetition debt classified as liabilities subject to compromise, employee retention and financing fees related to
debtors-in-possession financing.
The following table summarizes the components of reorganization costs included in the Company’s consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Professional fees
Write-off of prepetition deferred debt financing costs
Employee retention
Debtors-in-possession financing fees and discounts
Other

$

$
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42,132
11,063
7,334
4,224
3,738
68,491

Interest Expense
The Company discontinued recording interest on debt instruments classified as liabilities subject to compromise as of the Petition Date. The
contractual interest expense on liabilities subject to compromise not accrued or recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss was $43.1 million, representing interest expense from the Petition Date through December 31, 2020.
Note 4. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
Ranges of Lives (years)

December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

Shorter of economic life or lease
term
7
3-5
2-3

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment
Internal-use software

$

4,729

$

2,296
5,964
96,460
109,449
87,274
22,175

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Note 5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Balance as of December 31, 2020
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses

$

332,361
(24,656)
307,705

$

Intangible assets consisted of the following:
December 31, 2020
Weighted-Average
Amortization
Period (years)
Intangible assets subject to amortization
Customer relationships
Trade names and trademarks
Website and application software
Non-competition agreement

9
15
3
5

221,058
1,138
4,804
320
227,320

Accumulated
Accumulated
Amortization
Impairment
(Dollars in thousands)
$
165,724 $
50,019
718
—
4,804
—
187
—
171,433
50,019

122,135
349,455

$

Carrying Amount
$

Intangible assets not subject to amortization
Trade names and trademarks
$

—
171,433

$

17,986
68,005

Amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization is $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Net
$

$

5,315
420
—
133
5,868

104,149
110,017

As of December 31, 2020, estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets subject to amortization is as follows:
December 31, 2020
2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

Thereafter

(Dollars in thousands)
$1,695

$

1,695

$

1,637

$

724

$

76

$

41

Note 6. Accrued Expenses and Other and Other Non-Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Reorganization liabilities
Accrued advertising-related liabilities
Payroll, commissions, and related employee benefits
Refund liabilities
Accrued professional fees
Tax-related liabilities
Other

$

11,172
5,966
3,410
1,603
839
254
3,290
26,534

$

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Deferred rent
Payroll, commissions, and related employee benefits

$
$

5,522
1,480
7,002

Note 7. Borrowings
DIP Financing
On February 14, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving new DIP Financing that, among other things, refinanced and
effectively replaced the prepetition bank credit facilities. A final order approving the agreement was entered by the Bankruptcy Court on
March 10, 2020. The maturity date of the DIP Financing was originally set for August 31, 2020. After notices to extend and the first
amendment to the DIP Financing, the maturity date is set to expire June 30, 2021.
Upon the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy, amounts outstanding under the DIP Financing will either be repaid in cash in
full with a third-party sale of the Company or if a Credit Bid sale converted into an exit term loan facility, with a redemption premium of either
•

3.5% if emergence date is prior to 90 days of the Petition Date or $2.6 million

•

7.5% if emergence date is between 90 days and 179 days of the Petition Date or $5.5 million

•

15.0% if emergence date is between 180 days and 359 days of the Petition Date or $11.1 million

•

19.6% if emergence date is 360 days or greater of the Petition Date or $14.5 million
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The original principal amount on the DIP Financing, not including any redemption premium, was $74.1 million. At December 31, 2020, the
expected emergence date was 360 days or greater. Therefore, the redemption premium of $14.5 million was accreted to the face value of the
DIP Financing utilizing the effective interest method. As a result, the DIP Financing was $88.6 million as of December 31, 2020.
The following is a summary of the effective interest rate on the DIP Financing:
Facility
DIP Financing

Applicable Rate
Eurodollar

Rate Floor (if Applicable)
1.00%

Applicable Margin at
December 31, 2020
7.00%

Approximate Interest Rate at
December 31, 2020
8.00%

Prepetition Debt during the Chapter 11 Cases
Bank Credit Facilities
On December 17, 2014, the Company entered into a $725.0 million senior secured bank credit facility (the “2014 Bank Credit Facility”), which
was originally comprised of the following three loan facilities (dollars in thousands):
Facility
Revolving credit facility (the
"2014 Revolving Facility")
2014 Senior Secured Term Loan - First Lien (the "2014
Term Loan - First Lien")
2014 Senior Secured Term Loan - Second Lien (the
"2014 Term Loan - Second Lien")

Aggregate Commitments/Principal

Scheduled Maturity Date

$50,000

December 17, 2019

$505,000

December 17, 2021 (the “2014 Term Loan - First Lien
Maturity Date”)
December 17, 2022 (the “2014 Term Loan - Second Lien
Maturity Date”)

$170,000

The Company entered into multiple agreements and amendments related to the 2014 Bank Credit Facility, including extending the maturity
date for certain lenders (the “Extending Lenders”) in the 2014 Revolving Facility and reducing the total capacity of the 2014 Revolving Facility
to $40.0 million.
Amounts borrowed under the 2014 Revolving Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at an annual Eurodollar rate, plus an applicable
margin, or a base rate, plus an applicable margin. Both the margin for borrowings under the 2014 Revolving Facility and the unused
commitment fee under the 2014 Revolving Facility are determined based upon the senior secured first-lien net leverage ratio, as defined in
the 2014 Bank Credit Facility.
From January 1, 2020 through the Petition Date, the applicable margin and commitment fees associated with borrowings from the Extending
Lenders are as follows:
Senior Secured First-Lien Net
Leverage Ratio
>4.00 to 1.00
≤ 4.00 to 1.00

Margin Over Eurodollar Rate for
Borrowings Under Revolving Facility
and Letters of Credit
4.75%
4.50%

Margin Over Base Rate for Borrowings
Under Revolving Facility
3.75%
3.50%
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Commitment Fees
0.500%
0.375%

From January 1, 2020 through the Petition Date, the applicable margin and commitment fees associated with borrowings from the lenders
who did not extend are as follows:
Senior Secured First-Lien Net
Leverage Ratio
>4.00 to 1.00
≤ 4.00 to 1.00

Margin Over Eurodollar Rate for
Borrowings Under Revolving Facility
and Letters of Credit
5.25 %
5.00 %

Margin Over Base Rate for Borrowings
Under Revolving Facility
4.25 %
4.00 %

Commitment Fees
0.500 %
0.375 %

The 2014 Term Loan – First Lien is subject to scheduled repayment in quarterly installments, beginning March 31, 2015, of approximately
$1.3 million each payable on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year through September 30, 2021, followed by a
final repayment on the 2014 Term Loan – First Lien Maturity Date of $470.9 million. Mandatory prepayments of the 2014 Term Loan – First
Lien are required for certain types of dispositions, casualty events resulting in net cash proceeds and,
beginning in 2015, for excess cash flows, as defined in and at levels specified by the 2014 Bank Credit Facility. The Company may also
make voluntary prepayments.
The 2014 Term Loan – Second Lien is subject to repayment in full on the 2014 Term Loan – Second Lien Maturity Date. Mandatory
prepayments of the 2014 Term Loan – Second Lien are required for certain types of dispositions and casualty events resulting in net cash
proceeds. In the event that excess cash flows calculated under the 2014 Term Loan – First Lien and payable to the first-lien debt holders are
refused by those debt holders, they must be offered to debt holders under the 2014 Term Loan – Second Lien. The Company may also make
voluntary prepayments.
The 2014 Bank Credit Facility, among other things, limits the Company’s ability to change the nature of its businesses, incur indebtedness,
create liens, sell assets, engage in mergers, consolidations or transactions with affiliates, make investments in or loans to certain
subsidiaries, issue guarantees and make certain restricted payments. At the end of any period at which it has 30% or more of its
borrowing capacity outstanding under the 2014 Revolving Facility, the Company must also be below maximum permitted leverage ratios, as
defined. The 2014 Bank Credit Facility is guaranteed by the ownership interest in most of the Company’s subsidiaries.
At December 31, 2020, the Company had approximately $0.5 million in outstanding letters of credit, which are not included in the
consolidated balance sheet. The letters of credit are used to cover reimbursement obligations for the Company’s insurance carriers and
certain of its real estate obligations. There are no additional contingent liabilities associated with these obligations as the underlying liabilities
are already reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The letters of credit generally expire within one year from the date of
issuance but have automatic renewal clauses.
The failure to make the $2.2 million repayment resulted in the Company defaulting on its 2014 Bank Credit Facility agreement. In connection
with the Company’s Chapter 11 Cases, all prepetition debt amounts have been stayed and separately stated as part of liabilities subject to
compromise. Their resolution will be based upon the requirements in the Plan. Given the uncertainties related to the resolution of the Chapter
11 Cases, all prepetition debt has been included at their contractual maturities.
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The principal amounts outstanding on the Company’s borrowings, exclusive of borrowings under revolving credit facilities, consisted of the
following:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Principal amounts under term loans, net subject to compromise
Less: amounts reclassified to liabilities subject to compromise

$

649,750
(649,750)
—

$

Total long-term debt under term loans

Note 8. Income Taxes
The components of the benefit for income taxes were as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Current:
Federal
State and local
Total
Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Total
Change in valuation allowance
Total deferred benefit

$

231
(1,127)
(896)
3,143
2,905
6,048
(2,048)
4,000
3,104

$

Total benefit for income taxes

A reconciliation of the income tax expected at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to income taxes provided on loss from operations is
set forth below:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate
State and local taxes, net of federal impact
Change in uncertain tax positions
Change in state tax rates
Expiration of federal NOLs
Change in prior year deferred tax assets
Nondeductible transaction costs
Other permanent items
Change in valuation allowance
Other, net

$

$

Benefit for income taxes
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22,934
2,401
(737)
(140)
(10,508)
(239)
(8,357)
(134)
(2,048)
(68)
3,104

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of:
•

Temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for income tax purposes

•

Operating and capital loss carryforwards

•

Certain tax credits

Net deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent the Company believes these assets will more likely than not be realized. The tax effects of
significant items comprising the Company’s deferred income taxes are as follows:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Deferred income tax assets
Difference between carrying amount and tax basis of:
Accrued expenses and other
Restructuring reserves
Deferred rent
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Stock-based compensation
Cost-method investments
Business interest
Operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards
Capital loss carryforwards

$

Total deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities
Difference between carrying amount and tax basis of:
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Accrued interest on discharged debt
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax assets
Less: Valuation allowance
$

Net

2,159
4,656
1,567
534
1,987
429
31,636
73,072
149
2,120
118,309

824
1,268
10,602
31,910
44,604
73,705
(86,877)
(13,172)

Ownership changes, as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”), may limit the amount of net operating losses that a
company may utilize to offset future taxable income and taxes payable. Pursuant to IRC Section 382, an ownership change occurs when the
stock ownership of 5% stockholders increases by more than 50% over a testing period of three years. The Company has experienced
ownership changes in the past, and it is possible that the Company has undergone ownership changes subsequent to December 17, 2014,
the date of our most recent evaluation, or that we may undergo such a change in the future. Any such ownership change may limit our ability
to utilize net operating losses.
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The majority of the federal tax return NOLs expire between 2021 and 2025. In addition, the Company has a small amount of state and local
NOLs in various jurisdictions in which the Company and/or its subsidiaries file income tax returns. These state and local NOLs expire over
various periods based on applicable state and local statutes and regulations. Federal NOLs available to the Company consisted of the
following:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Total amount of federal NOLs available for future utilization

$

330,520

The Company records amounts to its valuation allowance to reduce its net deferred tax assets to an amount it considers to be realizable.
Based on the weight of available positive and negative evidence, the Company may make adjustments to some or all of its valuation
allowance from year to year based upon its conclusion as to the amount of its net deferred tax assets is more likely than not to be realized.
To the extent the Company reports taxable income in future periods, it intends to use its NOLs, to the extent allowable, to offset that taxable
income and reduce cash outflows for income taxes. The Company considers objectively verifiable evidence to be of the greatest value in its
assessment of the realizability of its net deferred tax assets. The Company’s ability to use its federal and state NOLs and federal and state
tax credit carryforwards may be subject to restrictions attributable to equity transactions in the future resulting from changes in ownership as
defined under the IRC.
Elements of positive evidence about the realizability of the assets include:
•

The remaining lives of the NOLs

•

Timing and amount of expected future taxable income

Elements of negative evidence about the realizability of the assets include:
•

Historical losses

•

Estimated future losses, based upon the current and prior two years’ actual cumulative losses, adjusted for certain nonrecurring
sources of income and expenses

•

Uncertainty as to the timing and exact amount of future earnings as a result of current and future economic conditions, the U.S.
residential real estate industry, as well as the uncertainty of the effectiveness of the steps the Company has taken, and will take, to
reverse the trend of recent losses

The Company considers the existence of its actual cumulative losses in recent years to represent a form of negative evidence as to the
realizability of its deferred tax assets. When evaluating whether the Company has overcome this negative evidence, the Company
retroactively adjusted the actual losses for the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) as it relates to the partial disallowance of
the Company’s business interest expense. The Company considers its most recent actual losses (adjusted for the partial disallowance of
interest expense) to represent objectively verifiable negative evidence as to its ability to generate earnings sufficient to realize a portion of its
deferred tax assets.
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Based on the weight of available positive and negative evidence as of December 31, 2020, the Company concluded that it is more likely than
not that $18.7 million of its net deferred tax assets (excluding its indefinite-lived deferred tax liability of $31.9 million) would be realized and
recorded an increase in its valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets of $2.0 million, related to the amount of net deferred tax
assets the Company believes is not more likely than not to be realized. In its analysis of this valuation allowance adjustment, the Company
projects it will generate sufficient taxable income to utilize $40.5 million of the $330.5 million of available Federal NOLs before their
expiration. The Company believes, as of December 31, 2020, it is more likely than not that it will not realize $86.9 million of its deferred tax
assets related to federal and state NOLs, capital loss carryforwards, business interest limitations under the Tax Act, and certain state tax
credits and has recorded a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets of $86.9 million.
The Company’s assessment at December 31, 2020 of its net deferred tax assets involved significant estimates and judgments. If future
results are significantly different from these estimates and judgments as of December 31, 2020, the Company may be required to record
adjustments to its valuation allowance in order to recognize appropriate amounts of its net deferred tax assets.
The following is a reconciliation of the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year
Gross increase—tax positions in prior year

$

830
738
1,568

$

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year

Further information about the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits that would, if recognized, have an impact on the effective tax rate
Unrecognized tax benefits that would not, if recognized, have an impact on the effective tax rate

$
$

Total unrecognized tax benefits
Recorded liability for uncertain tax positions
Interest and penalties included in recorded liability for uncertain tax positions
Uncertain state NOL benefit

$

1,560
8
1,568
2,389
829
8

There were $0.2 million recorded for interest during the year ended December 31, 2020. There were no charges recorded for penalties
during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions, and
the Company is routinely under audit by multiple tax authorities. The Company reported NOLs from tax years back to 1998 on state tax
returns currently under, or open to, audit. The Company believes that its accrual for tax liabilities is adequate for all open audit years based
on its assessment of many factors, including past experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and involves a series of complex judgments about future events.
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On March 27, 2020, the U.S. government enacted legislation under the CARES Act. The CARES Act includes several significant provisions
for corporations including increasing the amount of deductible interest under section 163(j), allowing companies to carryback certain NOLs,
and increasing the amount of NOL that corporations can use to offset income. The Company has analyzed the potential impacts of the
CARES Act on its financial statements, and does not believe the CARES Act will have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
As a result of the Company’s Chapter 11 Cases, the accrual for income tax liabilities is included in liabilities subject to compromise in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020.

Note 9. Employee Benefit Plans
Stock-Based Compensation
Summary of Share-Based Compensation Plans
Equity-Based Compensation Plans
Effective September 19, 2011, the Board of Directors adopted the RentPath Holdings, Inc. 2011 Management Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2011 Equity Plan”), which authorized the issuance of up to 45.4 million options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. Awards
under the 2011 Equity Plan could be incentive and/or non-qualified stock options. Effective February 24, 2015, the Board of Directors
adopted the RentPath Holdings, Inc. 2015 Management Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Equity Plan”). The 2015 Equity Plan superseded
2011 Equity Plan. Although outstanding awards under the 2011 Equity Plan were unaffected by the 2015 Equity Plan, no additional awards
may be granted under the 2011 Equity Plan. The 2015 Equity Plan authorized the issuance of options to purchase up to 24.5 million shares
of common stock, which amount will increase automatically to the extent that outstanding options under the 2011 Equity Plan are terminated
and returned to the 2015 Equity Plan, but in no event may the
aggregate number of options issued under the 2015 Equity Plan exceed 39.5 million shares of common stock. Awards under the 2015 Equity
Plan may be incentive and/or non-qualified stock options. To the extent that any options granted under the 2015 Equity Plan or the 2011
Equity Plan are forfeited, expire or are otherwise canceled without having been exercised, those options are available for
grant under the 2015 Equity Plan.
Stock option awards granted under the 2011 Equity Plan and 2015 Equity Plan are service-based options subject to time vesting and
performance-based options subject to vesting based on the achievement of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”) targets. All of the stock option awards have a 10-year life. Generally, the service-based options vest 25% or 20% each year on
the anniversary date for continuous service over four or five years, respectively. The performance-based options vest 20% each year on the
anniversary date if the performance targets of the previous year are met; if those targets are not met, the performance options remain
outstanding and become immediately vested upon the occurrence of (i) the achievement of the EBITDA target in respect to the first
performance year following such fiscal year; or (ii) the occurrence of a liquidity event in which our equity owners realize 1.5x their investment,
in which case 50% of the outstanding performance options vest, or our equity owners realize 2.5x their investment, in which case 100% of
the outstanding performance options vest. Because of the multiple vesting triggers, the portion of a performance-based award pertaining to a
given year (20%) is not considered granted until all targets potentially impacting
the vesting of that portion of the award are set.
Effective November 15, 2011, the Board of Directors adopted the RentPath Holdings, Inc. Non-Employee Director Equity Plan (the “Director
Equity Plan”), which currently authorizes the issuance of up to 2.2 million equity awards to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock.
Awards under the Director Equity Plan may be stock options, restricted stock or restricted stock units.
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Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock
A summary of all of the Company’s restricted stock unit activity as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 is presented below:
December 31, 2020
Weighted-Average Grant-Date Fair
Number of Units
Value
4,477,277 $
1.33
—
—
(56,391)
1.33
—
—
(4,420,886)
1.33
—
—

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Vested and distributed
Vested and surrendered
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of year

The total fair value of shares vested and settled during the year ended December 31, 2020 was less than $0.1 million.
During 2016, the Company granted approximately 4.4 million market-based restricted stock units, for which the vesting is contingent upon the
occurrence of a liquidity event and the achievement of specified investment returns by our equity owners as of the date of the liquidity event.
During 2020, all 4.4 million market-based restricted stock units were forfeited.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company granted 0.3 million of restricted stock units under the Director Equity Plan that vest
50% each year on the anniversary date of the grant for continuous service over two years. There were no restricted stock units issued under
the Director Equity Plan during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The total unrecognized compensation cost related to the service-based restricted stock units outstanding as of December 31, 2020 was $0.0
million.
There was no restricted stock outstanding at any point during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Stock Options
A summary of all of the Company’s stock option award activity as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 is presented below:

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of year
Vested and exercisable at end of year

December 31, 2020
Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Exercise Remaining Contractual Term
Options
Price
(in years)
30,044,642 $
1.13
—
—
—
—
(723,586)
1.32
(1,924,947)
1.33
27,396,109
1.11
4
27,143,621

1.11

During 2020, the Company did not grant stock options.
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4

Aggregate Intrinsic Value
(Dollars in thousands)

$

—

—
—

The aggregate intrinsic value of all outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2020 was zero as the exercise price on all options
exceeded the estimated fair value of the Company’s common shares.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $0.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options. The
cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately one year.
Total Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Total recorded stock-based compensation expense was as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)
Restricted stock units
Stock options

$

16
583
599

$

Total

Stock-based compensation is included within marketing and selling and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss.
Retirement Plan
Substantially all of the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in a defined contribution retirement plan immediately after their
employment. The expense recognized by the Company for this plan during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $1.7 million. The
expense primarily related to matching contributions made by the Company.
Note 10. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, were as follows:
Realized Losses on Cash Flow Hedges
(Dollars in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Other comprehensive income

$

(2,824)
2,824
—

$

Balance as of December 31, 2020

The following table represents the tax effect allocated to other comprehensive income:
Before-Tax Amount

Tax Benefits

Net of Tax Amount

(Dollars in thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Net realized losses on cash flow hedges
Other comprehensive income

$
$

3,775
3,775
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$
$

(951) $
(951) $

2,824
2,824

Note 11. Provision for Restructuring Costs
In 2019, the Company implemented a restructuring plan to streamline its expense structure (the “2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan included the
elimination of certain positions and provided for employee-related termination costs, of which a majority were paid in 2019 with the remainder
expected to be paid in 2021.
The expected cost of each plan and costs incurred through December 31, 2020 are as follows:
2019 Plan
(Dollars in thousands)
Total expected costs
Costs incurred through December 31, 2020

$2,000-2,100
$2,058

Details of the 2019 Plan and the related payments made during the year ended December 31, 2020 are as follows:
Liabilities as of January 1,
2020

Net Provision for the Year
Ended December 31, 2020

Payments/Write-offs During
the Year Ended December
31, 2020

Liabilities as of December
31, 2020

(Dollars in thousands)
Employee-related termination costs

$

Total

676
676

$

—
—

$

(114) $
(114)

562
562

Restructuring liabilities of $0.6 million related to the 2019 plan are included in liabilities subject to compromise in the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2020.
The Company did not record any restructuring expenses during the year ended December 31, 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company did not record any imputed interest associated with restructuring liabilities.
Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
Operating Leases
Total rent expense under operating leases is $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Certain of the Company’s operating leases are subject to escalation clauses, and some leases contain renewal options. The Company
expenses rent on all operating leases on a straight-line basis. The leases are primarily for office space.
On December 12, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement to lease approximately 75,000 rentable square feet of office space, which
houses its current headquarters. The lease term is from July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2027. Following an 18-month rental abatement period,
monthly base rent is approximately $162,076 and increases by 2% annually beginning July 1, 2017. In addition to monthly base rent, the
Company is required to pay for its pro rata share of operating costs.
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Minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases, including the lease for the current headquarters discussed above, as of
December 31, 2020, are as follows (dollars in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

2,332
2,180
2,212
2,256
2,302
3,533
14,815

Litigation-Related Matters
From time to time, the Company is involved in litigation arising out of the general conduct of its business, typically involving contract,
employment, intellectual property or similar matters. At times, the Company initiates such litigation against others in order to protect or
enforce its rights, and at other times, the litigation is defensive. The Company is not currently involved in any material litigation.
Indemnifications and Other Contingencies
The Company also has other contingent tax-related liabilities arising from positions taken with respect to certain tax filings. At December 31,
2020, the Company recorded reserves of $1.9 million for its tax-related contingencies in liabilities subject to compromise in the consolidated
balance sheet.
Note 13. Subsequent Events
In the preparation of its consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through May 27, 2021.
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RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet (Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
March 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,500)
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Property and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $91,924)
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Total assets

$

Liabilities and stockholders' deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Debtors-in-possession financing
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liability, net
Other non-current liabilities
Liabilities subject to compromise
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)

60,369
17,144
6,939
7,324
91,776
21,495
109,593
307,705
530,569

5,124
36,817
88,593
130,534
12,988
6,367
712,993
862,882

Stockholders’ deficit
Common stock - $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 411,743,505 shares issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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4,117
176,921
(513,351)
(332,313)
530,569

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Net Income (Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
Revenue, net
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization of property and equipment)
Marketing and selling
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Reorganization costs
Interest expense
Other income, net
Total costs and expenses

$

42,924
3,929
28,032
7,701
4,717
424
21,155
1,482
(52,037)
15,403

Income from operations before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

27,521
(330)
27,191

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

3

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Deficit (Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)

Common Stock
Shares
Balance as of December 31, 2020
Net income
Non-cash charges for stock-based
compensation
Balance as of March 31, 2021

Par Value

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income, net

Total
Stockholders'
Deficit

411,743,505
—
—

$

4,117
—
—

$

176,865
—
56

$

(540,542) $
27,191
—

—
—
—

$

(359,560)
27,191
56

411,743,505

$

4,117

$

176,921

$

(513,351) $

—

$

(332,313)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-In-Possession
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(Dollars in thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
Operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Bad debt expense
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

$

27,191
5,141
56
(184)
(4)
1,707
(2,141)
1,837
9,665
43,268
(3,943)
(3,943)

$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period
Supplemental information:
Cash paid for reorganization costs included in cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash paid for interest, including interest on debt and derivative financial instruments, net
Cash paid for income taxes, net
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Accrued property and equipment acquisitions

$

9,062
1,482
1

$

980

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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—
39,325
38,188
77,513

RENTPATH HOLDINGS, INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Debtors-in-Possession
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of RentPath Holdings, Inc. (“Holdings”) include the accounts of RentPath,
LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively, “RentPath”). In these notes, unless the context specifies otherwise, Holdings and its subsidiaries, are
referred to as the “Company.”
Holdings does not have independent operations, and, through its operating subsidiaries, is a digital marketing company focused on the
residential rental real estate market. The Company’s listing sites, including ApartmentGuide.com, Rent.com, Rentals.com and
LiveLovely.com, are targeted for the apartment and other rental property sectors of the residential real estate industry and are provided free
to consumers through a combination of mobile and desktop platforms. The Company’s services also help simplify the renting process and
offer innovative solutions for renters and property managers. Revenue is primarily derived from providing advertiser clients, principally
property management companies, private owners/landlords and real estate professionals, with services that generate leads and leases.
Voluntary Reorganization Under Chapter 11
Key Events and Filing Under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code
During 2019, a continued shifting competitive landscape and increased competition from numerous sources resulted in declining revenues
and necessitated an increase in the Company’s marketing spend and promotions to maintain the flow of leads. As a result, the Company’s
profitability declined, leaving the Company with limited liquidity, highly leveraged and unable to make a mandatory $2.2 million repayment on
its revolving credit facility. The failure to repay this balance resulted in the Company defaulting on its 2014 Bank Credit Facility agreement as
discussed in Note 3, Borrowings.
On February 12, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), Holdings and each of its subsidiaries (collectively, “Debtors”) commenced with the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (“Bankruptcy Court”) voluntary cases under chapter 11 (“Chapter 11 Cases”) of title 11 of the
United States Code (“Bankruptcy Code”). Certain of the Company’s prepetition lenders and the Company’s prepetition equity sponsors,
committed to effectuate a Chapter 11 Plan (“Plan”) that contemplated the sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets pursuant to
Restructuring Support Agreement (“RSA”), dated February 11, 2020.
Shortly after commencing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors entered into an agreement with certain prepetition lenders to provide the
Debtors with approximately $74.1 million of debtors-in-possession financing (“DIP Financing”) to pay ordinary-course operating expenses,
finance the Chapter 11 Cases, and provide the Debtors with flexibility to consummate the transactions contemplated by the RSA. On March
10, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the DIP Financing on a final basis.
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Prior to commencing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company entered into a stalking horse asset purchase agreement (“Stalking Horse APA”)
with an affiliate of CoStar Group, Inc. (“CoStar”). As set forth in the Stalking Horse APA, the stalking horse bid provides for the going-concern
sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets for an aggregate purchase price equal to $587.5 million in cash, plus the assumption of
certain liabilities (the “Stalking Horse Bid”). The Stalking Horse Bid included a $58.8 million break-up fee (the “Break-Up Fee”) in which
CoStar would pay the Company if the sale was not consummated and certain other conditions were met. Additionally, pursuant to the RSA,
certain of the Company’s prepetition lenders agreed to backstop the Debtors’ sale process and, prior to commencing the Chapter 11 Cases,
submitted a binding credit bid of First Lien Claims (“Credit Bid”) in the amount of $492.7 million for the Debtors’ business.
Other than the Stalking Horse Bid and the Credit Bid, the Debtors did not receive any additional bids by the bid deadline set forth in the
procedures governing the Debtors’ sale process. Accordingly, on March 26, 2020, the Debtors filed a notice on the docket of the Chapter 11
Cases designating the Stalking Horse Bid as the successful bid and the Credit Bid as the back-up bid. The closing of the transaction
contemplated by the Stalking Horse Bid was subject to various conditions, including approval by the Bankruptcy Court and certain regulatory
approvals. On June 10, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Debtors’ plan, which contemplated the sale of the Debtors’ business to
CoStar pursuant to the Stalking Horse APA or, in the alternative, if the Debtors were unable to consummate the Stalking Horse APA, the
Credit Bid, which served as the back-up bid.
In April 2020, the Company and CoStar each received a request for additional information from the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (the
“FTC”) with respect to the acquisition. The FTC’s additional request extended the waiting period imposed by the Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976 until the parties completed the compliance process and the FTC completed its review of the substance of the
parties’ submission. On July 29, 2020, CoStar exercised its option pursuant to the Stalking Horse APA to extend the date after which either
the Company or CoStar may terminate the Stalking Horse APA if the transaction had not closed by August 12, 2020 (the “Outside Date”) for
an additional three months until November 12, 2020 in exchange for payment of $7.5 million. On November 12, 2020, although the FTC
process remained ongoing, CoStar elected not to exercise its option under the Stalking Horse Bid to further extend the Outside Date beyond
November 12, 2020. Accordingly, the Outside Date passed on November 12, 2020. On November 30, 2020, the FTC commenced an
administrative action and authorized an action in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia (which commenced on
December 3, 2020), to block the Company’s proposed acquisition by CoStar. On December 29, 2020, the Company delivered a termination
notice to CoStar terminating the Stalking Horse APA and requesting payment of the $58.8 million Break-Up Fee. On the same day, the
Company provided notice of such termination to all parties in interest in the Chapter 11 Cases. In January 2021, CoStar filed a complaint
commencing an adversary proceeding in the Chapter 11 Cases seeking, among other things, a declaration that the Company was not
entitled to the Break-Up Fee. In February 2021, the Company and CoStar reached a settlement with respect to the Break-Up Fee, and in
March 2021, the settlement was approved by the Bankruptcy Court and the Company received a $52.0 million Break-Up Fee from CoStar.
The Company recorded the Break-Up Fee as other income, net in the condensed consolidated statement of net income.
Following the termination of the Stalking Horse APA, the Company once again began to review its strategic options, including whether to
seek to consummate the Plan pursuant to the Credit Bid. In connection therewith, the Company and its advisors received outreach from
multiple third parties interested in pursuing a sale of the Debtors’ business and the Debtors also contacted multiple other potential acquirers.
After several weeks of extensive negotiations, the Debtors received multiple bids for the going concern sale of substantially all of the Debtors’
assets or interests in the Debtor entity owning all or substantially all of the Debtors’ assets, including a cash bid from Redfin Corporation
(“Redfin”), a real estate brokerage company, for $608.0 million in cash, plus the assumption of certain liabilities (the “Third Party APA”).
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The Debtors, the Board of Directors and the special committee of the Board of Directors determined that Redfin’s cash bid presented the
most value-maximizing transaction possible and entered into the third party bid for the sale of interest in the Debtors’ entity owning all or
substantially all of the Debtors’ assets in Holdings (“Third Party Sale Transaction”). The Third Party Sale Transaction would not include the
accounts of RentPath, LLC and its subsidiaries.
On February 26, 2021, the Debtors filed an amended plan of reorganization (the “Amended Plan”) with the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to
which the Debtors sought, among other things, to consummate the Third Party Sale Transaction.
On March 29, 2021, the waiting period for the FTC’s review of the Third Party APA expired, and on April, 1, 2021, the Debtors received
approval of the Amended Plan and the Third Party Sale Transaction at the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation and sale hearing.
On April 1, 2021, in connection with implementation of the Amended Plan pursuant to the Third Party Sale Transaction, Holdings, formed a
Delaware limited liability company, RP Wind Down, LLC, which checked the box to be treated as a corporation effective as of the date of
formation to serve as Wind Down Co under the Amended Plan.
On April 2, 2021, the Company satisfied the all of the conditions precedent to the effective date set forth within the Amended Plan such that
the plan was substantially consummated (the “Effective Date”). Pursuant to the confirmed Amended Plan, the significant transactions that
occurred on the Effective Date and the terms defined by the Amended Plan were as follows:
•

Third Party Sale Transaction: The Debtors and Redfin consummated the Third Party Sale Transaction, pursuant to which following
the discharge pursuant to Section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code, the transfer of Acquired Assets free and clear of Liens (other than
Permitted Liens) and Assumed Liabilities from RentPath, LLC and its subsidiaries to Holdings, and the transfer of Excluded Assets
and Excluded Liabilities from the Debtors to RP Wind Down, LLC, Holdings transferred 100% of the interests in RP Wind Down, LLC
to the Plan Administrator.

•

DIP Claims: Claims associated with the DIP Financing were indefeasibly paid in full, in cash. Contemporaneously, the DIP Financing
and related documents were deemed cancelled, all DIP commitments were deemed terminated, all DIP liens were automatically
terminated, and all collateral subject to such DIP liens were automatically released.

•

First Lien Claims: Each such holder received, up to the full amount of such holder’s allowed first lien claim, its pro rata share of the
Sale Proceeds Distributable Consideration less the Second Lien Claims Recovery Cash Pool less the Second Lien Sale Distribution
Recovery. In addition, on the Effective Date, the First Lien Credit Agreement and related documents were deemed cancelled,
discharged and of no force or effect.

•

Second Lien Claims: Each such holder received, its pro rata share of: (i) the Second Lien Claims Recovery Cash Pool and (ii) the
Second Lien Sale Distribution Recovery. In addition, on the Effective Date, the Second Lien Credit Agreement and related
documents were deemed cancelled, discharged and of no force or effect.

•

General Unsecured Claims: Each such holder was paid in full in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular
transaction giving rise to such Allowed General Unsecured Claim.

•

Holdings Equity Interests: Equity interests in Holdings were cancelled, released, and extinguished and there were no distributions for
holders of Holdings equity interests.

On April 5, 2021, RentPath, LLC and each of its subsidiaries other than Consumer Source Holdings LLC merged into RP Wind Down, LLC.
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Going Concern
During the Company’s bankruptcy proceedings and prior to the Bankruptcy Court’s entry of an order confirming the Debtors’ Amended Plan,
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon, among other things, its ability to develop and successfully
implement a plan of reorganization and obtain creditor acceptance and confirmation under the Bankruptcy Code, and either (i) obtain exit
financing sources sufficient to meet the Company’s future obligations or (ii) consummate a sale of the Company to a third party. The
Company’s debt obligations and uncertainties related to the bankruptcy process raised substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a
going concern.
As a result of the Bankruptcy Court’s confirmation of the Amended Plan and emergence from bankruptcy on April 2, 2021, management
concluded there is no longer substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The Company prepares its unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and, therefore, do not include all information and
disclosures required by GAAP for complete consolidated financial statements. These condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all
normal and recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to present fairly the Company’s consolidated results
of the interim period.
Certain information and disclosures normally included in the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements have been condensed or
omitted; however, the Company believes that the disclosures included herein are sufficient for a fair presentation of the information
presented. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial
statements and the notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. The Company’s significant accounting policies are set forth in
Note 2 within those consolidated financial statements. The Company uses the same accounting policies in preparing interim condensed
consolidated financial information and annual consolidated financial statements. There were no changes to the Company’s significant
accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2021, except for the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 201912, Income Taxes. See “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” below for further discussion.
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Bankruptcy Accounting
The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 852, Reorganizations (“ASC 852”). ASC 852 requires the presentation of liabilities subject to
compromise and certain other amounts relevant during Chapter 11 Cases.
Liabilities Subject to Compromise
Liabilities subject to compromise refers to prepetition obligations which may be affected by the Chapter 11 process. These amounts
represent the Company’s current estimate of known or potential obligations to be resolved in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.
Differences between the liabilities the Company has estimated and the claims filed, will be investigated and resolved in connection with the
claims resolution process. The Company will continue to evaluate these liabilities throughout the Chapter 11 Cases and adjust amounts as
necessary. Such adjustments may be material.
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The following table summarizes the components of liabilities subject to compromise included in the Company’s condensed consolidated
balance sheet:
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Debt subject to compromise:
Revolving credit facility
Term Loan - First Lien
Secured creditors’ claim - First Lien
Term Loan - Second Lien
Accrued interest
Accounts payable
Tax-related liabilities
Customer refund liabilities
Restructuring liabilities
Other accrued expenses

$

37,350
479,750
4,772
170,000
11,084
1,850
4,577
2,900
562
148
712,993

$

Reorganization Costs
The Company has incurred and will continue to incur significant costs associated with the Chapter 11 Cases. Reorganization costs represent
costs directly associated with the Chapter 11 Cases. Such costs primarily include professional fees and employee retention.
The following table summarizes the components of reorganization costs included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of net
income:
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Professional fees
Employee retention
Other

$

$

16,971
3,251
933
21,155

Interest Expense
The Company discontinued recording interest on debt instruments classified as liabilities subject to compromise as of the Petition Date. The
contractual interest expense on liabilities subject to compromise not accrued or recorded in the condensed consolidated statement of net
income was $11.7 million, representing interest expense for the three months ending March 31, 2021.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Management considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted
cash represents legally restricted amounts being held for deposits and professional fees.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Company’s condensed
consolidated statement of cash flows:
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$
$

60,369
17,144
77,513

Other Comprehensive Income
There were no components of other comprehensive income during the three months ended March 31, 2021.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Adopted
Income Taxes. In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes. This ASU is intended to simplify various aspects related to
accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Accounting Standards Codification 740,
Income Tax and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application.
The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on January 1, 2021. The adoption did not have material impacts on the Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements.
To be Adopted
Leases. In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. This ASU requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for virtually all leases (other than leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease). The liability to be recognized equals the
present value of the future lease payments, while the asset is based on the liability, subject to adjustment (e.g., for initial direct costs). For
purposes of the condensed consolidated statement of net income, the ASU retains a dual model, requiring leases to be classified as either
operating or finance. Classification will be based on criteria that are largely similar to those already existing.
The FASB subsequently issued multiple ASUs that amend ASU 2016-02 and provide additional implementation guidance and delayed the
effective date.
This ASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. The ASU may be adopted
using a modified retrospective transition or adopted prospectively with a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
deficit in the period of adoption.
The Company will adopt ASU 2016-02 when required and is still assessing the impact this ASU will have on its condensed consolidated
financial statements.
Reference Rate Reform. In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform. This ASU provides guidance, optional
expedients and exceptions that reference London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or another reference rate expected to be discontinued
due to reference rate reform. The standard was effective upon issuance and can be applied through December 31, 2022. The Company has
debt with interest rates that reference LIBOR, and therefore, will adopt this standard when LIBOR is discontinued.
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Note 2. Accrued Expenses and Other and Other Non-Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Reorganization liabilities
Accrued advertising-related liabilities
Payroll, commissions, and related employee benefits
Refund liabilities
Accrued professional fees
Tax-related liabilities
Other

$

20,836
3,893
5,866
1,880
1,039
284
3,019
36,817

$

Other non-current liabilities consisted of the following:
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Deferred rent
Payroll, commissions, and related employee benefits

$
$

5,337
1,030
6,367

Note 3. Borrowings
DIP Financing
On February 14, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving new DIP Financing that, among other things, refinanced and
effectively replaced the prepetition bank credit facilities. A final order approving the agreement was entered by the Bankruptcy Court on
March 10, 2020. The maturity date of the DIP Financing was originally set for August 31, 2020. After notices to extend and the first
amendment to the DIP Financing, the maturity date is set to expire June 30, 2021.
Upon the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy, amounts outstanding under the DIP Financing will either be repaid in cash in
full with a third-party sale of the Company or if a Credit Bid sale converted into an exit term loan facility, with a redemption premium of either
•

3.5% if emergence date is prior to 90 days of the Petition Date or $2.6 million

•

7.5% if emergence date is between 90 days and 179 days of the Petition Date or $5.5 million

•

15.0% if emergence date is between 180 days and 359 days of the Petition Date or $11.1 million

•

19.6% if emergence date is 360 days or greater of the Petition Date or $14.5 million

The original principal amount on the DIP Financing, not including any redemption premium, was $74.1 million. The emergence date was 360
days or greater. Therefore, the redemption premium of $14.5 million was accreted to the face value of the DIP Financing utilizing the effective
interest method. As a result, the DIP Financing was $88.6 million as of March 31, 2021.
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The following is a summary of the effective interest rate on the DIP Financing:
Facility
DIP Financing

Applicable Rate
Eurodollar

Rate Floor (if Applicable)
1.00%

Applicable Margin at
March 31, 2021
7.00%

Approximate Interest Rate at
March 31, 2021
8.00%

Prepetition Debt during the Chapter 11 Cases
Bank Credit Facilities
On December 17, 2014, the Company entered into a $725.0 million senior secured bank credit facility (the “2014 Bank Credit Facility”), which
was originally comprised of the following three loan facilities (dollars in thousands):
Facility
Revolving credit facility (the
"2014 Revolving Facility")
2014 Senior Secured Term Loan - First Lien
2014 Senior Secured Term Loan - Second Lien

Aggregate Commitments/Principal

Scheduled Maturity Date

$50,000
$505,000
$170,000

December 17, 2019
December 17, 2021
December 17, 2022

The Company entered into multiple agreements and amendments related to the 2014 Bank Credit Facility, including extending the maturity
date for certain lenders in the 2014 Revolving Facility and reducing the total capacity of the 2014 Revolving Facility to $40.0 million.
The failure to make the $2.2 million repayment resulted in the Company defaulting on its 2014 Bank Credit Facility agreement. In connection
with the Company’s Chapter 11 Cases, all prepetition debt amounts have been stayed and separately stated as part of liabilities subject to
compromise. Their resolution will be based upon the requirements in the Plan. Given the uncertainties related to the resolution of the Chapter
11 Cases, all prepetition debt has been included at their contractual maturities.
At March 31, 2021, the Company had approximately $0.5 million in outstanding letters of credit, which are not included in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet. The letters of credit are used to cover reimbursement obligations for the Company’s insurance carriers and
certain of its real estate obligations. There are no additional contingent liabilities associated with these obligations as the underlying liabilities
are already reflected in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet. The letters of credit generally expire within one year from the
date of issuance but have automatic renewal clauses.
The principal amounts outstanding on the Company’s borrowings, exclusive of borrowings under revolving credit facilities, consisted of the
following:
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Principal amounts under term loans, net subject to compromise
Less: amounts reclassified to liabilities subject to compromise

$
$

Total debt under term loans
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649,750
(649,750)
—

Note 4. Income Taxes
Income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $0.3 million, reflecting an effective tax rate of 1.2%. The effective tax
rates are computed based on condensed consolidated income or loss before income taxes, and income tax expense is comprised of the
following:
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
Provision for tax expense on pre-tax income, adjusted for permanent differences
Changes related to uncertain tax positions
Other miscellaneous adjustments

$

$

Provision for income taxes

(424)
(7)
101
(330)

As of March 31, 2021, the Company maintained a partial valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. The Company may release
additional valuation allowance in future periods when it can conclude that a greater portion of the net deferred tax assets is more likely than
not to be realized. To the extent the Company reports taxable income in future periods, it intends to use its net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOLs”), to the extent allowable, to offset that taxable income and reduce cash outflows for income taxes. The Company’s ability to use its
federal and state NOLs and federal and state tax credit carryforwards may be subject to restrictions attributable to equity transactions in the
future resulting from changes in ownership as defined under the Internal Revenue Code.
The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2021 was $2.4 million. As of March 31, 2021, the Company’s recorded liability
for uncertain tax positions was $2.4 million, which includes $0.8 million of interest. The Company recorded charges for interest related to the
unrecognized tax benefits of less than $0.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2021. As a result of the Company’s Chapter 11
Cases, the accrual for income tax liabilities is included in liabilities subject to compromise in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2021.
The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and local jurisdictions, and
the Company is routinely under audit by multiple tax authorities. The Company believes that its accrual for tax liabilities is adequate for all
open audit years based on its assessment of many factors, including past experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and involves a series of complex judgments about future events.
Note 5. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation-Related Matters
From time to time, the Company is involved in litigation arising out of the general conduct of its business, typically involving contract,
employment, intellectual property or similar matters. At times, the Company initiates such litigation against others in order to protect or
enforce its rights, and at other times, the litigation is defensive. The Company is not currently involved in any material litigation.
Indemnifications and Other Contingencies
The Company also has other contingent tax-related liabilities arising from positions taken with respect to certain tax filings. At March 31,
2021, the Company recorded reserves of $1.9 million for its tax-related contingencies in liabilities subject to compromise in the condensed
consolidated balance sheet.
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Note 6. Subsequent Events
In the preparation of its condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through June 17,
2021.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information
(in thousands)
On February 19, 2021, Redfin Corporation ("we,” “us,” or “our”), entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") with
RentPath Holdings, Inc. ("RentPath") and certain of RentPath’s wholly owned subsidiaries (together with RentPath, the “Sellers”). RentPath
is a digital marketing solutions company that connects consumers with available apartments and houses for rent. Under the Agreement, we
acquired, for $608,000 in cash, all of the equity interests of RentPath (the “Acquisition”), as reorganized following an internal restructuring of
the Sellers (“Reorganized RentPath”) pursuant to the joint chapter 11 plan of reorganization of the Sellers in the chapter 11 cases of the
Sellers (the "Plan") and certain of their affiliates filed on February 12, 2020 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the
“Bankruptcy Court”). In connection with the internal restructuring, certain assets and liabilities related to the Sellers’ business of providing
digital media services to clients in the residential real estate business were transferred to Reorganized RentPath, and the remaining assets
and liabilities were transferred to a wind-down company called Wind Down Co. We completed the Acquisition of RentPath on April 2, 2021.
Our unaudited pro forma combined financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is not intended to represent
or be indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the Acquisition had been completed on an earlier date, and
should not be taken as representative of our future consolidated results of operations or financial condition. Preparation of our unaudited pro
forma combined financial information for all periods presented required management to make certain judgments and estimates to determine
the transaction accounting adjustments such as purchase accounting adjustments, which include, among others, amortization charges from
acquired intangible assets. The transaction accounting adjustments are based on the information currently available and the assumptions
and estimates underlying the transaction accounting adjustments are described in the accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from the
assumptions used to present the accompanying unaudited pro forma combined financial information. The unaudited pro forma combined
financial information also reflects reclassification adjustments to certain financial statement captions included in RentPath’s historical
consolidated financial statements to align with the corresponding financial statement captions included in our historical presentation. The
reclassifications had no impact on the historical results of operations, net income (loss), total assets, total liabilities, or total stockholders'
equity reported by us or RentPath. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information also reflects bankruptcy reorganization and
emergence adjustments that were completed immediately prior to the Acquisition. The adjustments are made to reflect liabilities which were
compromised as a result of bankruptcy and are not our obligations after the completion of the Acquisition, as well as other costs incurred by
RentPath that were directly attributable to the bankruptcy proceedings.
Our unaudited pro forma combined financial information should be read in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto and other financial information included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020 and our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2021, and the audited consolidated financial statements
of RentPath as of and for the period ended December 31, 2020 and the unaudited consolidated financial statements of RentPath as of and
for the period ended March 31, 2021 (included in exhibits 99.1 and 99.2, respectively).
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2021
(in thousands)
Historical
Redfin
RentPath
March 31, 2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Loans held for sale
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets, net
Long-term investments
Intangibles, net
Goodwill
Other assets, noncurrent
Total assets

$

Liabilities, mezzanine equity,
and stockholder’s equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other payables
Warehouse credit facilities
Secured revolving credit
facility
Debtors-in-possession
financing
Convertible senior notes, net
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Lease liabilities and deposits,
noncurrent
Convertible senior notes, net,
noncurrent
Payroll tax liabilities, noncurrent
Other noncurrent liabilities
Deferred tax liability, net
Liabilities subject to
compromise
Total liabilities
Series A convertible preferred
stock—par value $0.001 per
share; 10,000,000 shares
authorized; 40,000 shares
issued and outstanding
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income
Retained earnings (accumulated
deficit)

1,241,255
101,790
140,843
47,416
97,371
43,447
15,224
7,014
1,694,360
47,649
47,932
6,906
1,708
9,186
8,836
1,816,577

$

15,568
75,754
19,117
40,663
48,851

60,369
17,144
—
6,939
—
—
7,324
—
91,776
21,495
—
—
109,593
307,705
—
530,569

5,124
36,817
—
—
—

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments
(Note 4)

Bankruptcy
Adjustments
(Note 3)

(60,369) (d)
(17,144) (d)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(77,513)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(77,513)

$

Reclassification
Adjustments
(Note 5)

(547,200)
(60,800)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(608,000)
(18,392)
12,330
—
101,407
100,119
—
(412,536)

(e)
(e)

Pro Forma
Combined

—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,185) (q)
—
(1,185)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,185)

(f)
(g)
(h)
(h)

$

(3,593) (a)
(28,931) (a)
—
—
—

—
5,615 (i)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

17,099
89,255
19,117
40,663
48,851

(88,593) (b)

—

—

—

—
1,264 (g)
6,879
11,066 (g)

—
—
—
—

23,428
13,875
252,288
64,399

—

—

1,136,974

1,030 (r)
(1,030) (r)
—
—

—

88,593

23,428
12,611
235,992
53,333

—
—
130,534
—

—
—
(121,117)
—

1,136,974

—

—

6,812
—
—
—

—
6,367
12,988
712,993

—
—
(12,988) (o)
(712,993) (a)

—
(5,337) (g)
17,743 (o)
—

1,433,111
39,834

862,882
—

(847,098)
—

30,351
—

—
—

1,479,246
39,834

104
641,702
161

4,117
176,921
—

—
—
—

(4,117) (j)
(176,921) (j)
—

—
—
—

104
641,702
161

(298,335)

(513,351)

—

513,351 (j)

—

(298,335)

(1,185) (q)
(1,185)
(1,185)

(5,615)
(1,185)
336,832
1,855,912

7,842
—
17,743
—

(5,615) (i)
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities, mezzanine
equity, and stockholders’
equity

$

694,055
40,990
140,843
54,355
97,371
43,447
21,363
7,014
1,099,438
50,752
60,262
6,906
212,708
417,010
8,836
1,855,912

343,632
1,816,577

$

(332,313)
530,569 $

—
(847,098)

$

326,698
357,049

$

See Notes to the unaudited pro forma combined financial information.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Historical
Redfin
RentPath
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
Revenue
Service
$
Product
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Service
Product
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Technology and development
Marketing
Depreciation and amortization
of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible
assets
General and administrative
Reorganization items
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income, net
(Provision) benefit for income
taxes
Net loss
$
Dividends on convertible
preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common
stock - basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to $
common stock - basic and
diluted
Weighted average shares to
compute net loss per share
attributable to common stock—
basic and diluted
Net loss
$
Other comprehensive loss
Unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale securities
Total other comprehensive loss
$
Comprehensive (loss) income

175,593
92,726
268,319

$

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments
(Note 4)

Bankruptcy
Adjustments
(Note 3)

42,924
—
42,924

$

—
—
—

$

Reclassification
Adjustments
(Note 5)
—
—
—

$

Pro Forma
Combined
—
—
—

$

218,517
92,726
311,243

134,851
91,110
225,961
42,358

3,929
—
3,929
38,995

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

3,775 (s)
—
3,775
(3,775)

142,555
91,110
233,665
77,578

27,678
11,802
—

—
28,032
4,717

—
—
—

—
—
3,924 (k)

12,018 (t)
(15,290) (u)
(8,641) (v)

39,696
24,544
—

—

424

—

—

(424) (w)

—

37,391

7,701

—

5,615 (i)

60,454

—
76,871
(34,513)
159
(1,338)
(92)
—

21,155
62,029
(23,034)
—
(1,482)
52,037
(330)

9,747 (x)
(q)
—
(2,590)
(1,185)
—
—
—
—

(35,784) $
(2,336)

27,191
—

(38,120)

27,191

(0.37) $
103,427,764

(35,784) $
(50)
(50)
(35,834) $

—

(21,155) (c)
(21,155)
21,155
—
—
—
—
$

$

—

$

21,155

$

—
21,155

$

—

$

(57,865)

$

—
(57,865)

$

—

(1,185)

$

—
(1,185)

(46,488)
(2,336)
(48,824)

$

(0.47)
103,427,764

$

—

See Notes to the unaudited pro forma combined financial information.
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$

—

—

$

(1,185)
—

—
124,694
(47,116)
159
(1,338)
(92)
1,899

(1,185)

—

—

$

(57,865)
—
(57,865)

—

—
—
27,191

$

21,155

—

27,191

21,155
—

—
9,539
(9,539)
—
1,482 (l)
(52,037) (m)
2,229 (p)

(46,488)
(50)

$

(50)
(46,538)

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Historical
Redfin
RentPath
Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2020
Revenue
Service
$
674,345 $
Product
211,748
Total revenue
886,093
Cost of revenue
Service
437,484
Product
216,499
Total cost of revenue
653,983
Gross profit
232,110
Operating expenses
Technology and development
84,297
Marketing
54,881
Depreciation and amortization
—
of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible
—
assets
General and administrative
92,140
Reorganization items
—
Total operating expenses
231,318
Income (loss) from operations
792
Interest income
2,074
Interest expense
(19,495)
Other income, net
(1,898)
Benefit from income taxes
—
Net loss
$
(18,527) $
Dividends on convertible
(4,454)
preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common
(22,981)
stock - basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to $
(0.23) $
common stock - basic and diluted
Weighted average shares to
98,574,529
compute net loss per share
attributable to common stock—
basic and diluted
Net loss
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation
adjustments
Realized gain on cash flow
hedges
Unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale securities
Total other comprehensive
income

$

Comprehensive loss

$

(18,527) $

Transaction
Accounting
Adjustments
(Note 4)

Bankruptcy
Adjustments
(Note 3)

194,389
—
194,389

$

—
—
—

$

Reclassification
Adjustments
(Note 5)
—
—
—

$

Pro Forma
Combined
—
—
—

$

868,734
211,748
1,080,482

16,670
—
16,670
177,719

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

13,593 (s)
—
13,593
(13,593)

467,747
216,499
684,246
396,236

—
140,389
20,517

—
—
—

—
—
14,329 (k)

49,914 (t)
(64,842) (u)
(34,846) (v)

134,211
130,428
—

1,742

—

—

(1,742) (w)

—

37,923 (x)
—
(13,593)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

167,344
—
431,983
(35,747)
2,074
(19,495)
(1,898)
8,584
(46,482)
(4,454)

31,666
68,491
262,805
(85,086)
—
(30,257)
5,895
3,104
(106,344) $
—
(106,344)
—

—
(68,491) (c)
(68,491)
68,491
—
—
—
—
68,491
—

$

68,491
$

—

(106,344) $

—

(i)

(l)
(m)
(p)
$

9,898
$

—

68,491

5,615
—
19,944
(19,944)
—
30,257
(5,895)
5,480
9,898
—

—

—
$

—

$

9,898

$

—

(50,936)
$

—

$

—

(0.52)
98,574,529

$

(46,482)

(3)

—

—

—

—

(3)

—

2,824

—

(2,824) (n)

—

—

172

—

—

—

—

172

169

2,824

—

(2,824)

—

169

(18,358) $

(103,520) $

68,491

$

7,074

$

See Notes to the unaudited pro forma combined financial information.
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—

$

(46,313)

Redfin Corporation
Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information
(in thousands)
Note 1: Basis of Presentation
On April 2, 2021, we completed our acquisition of RentPath whereby we acquired RentPath in a transaction accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting in accordance with FASB ASC 805, Business Combinations. Under this method of accounting, the total
purchase price of $608,000 was made up of all cash consideration.
The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is presented for informational purposes only and is not intended to represent
or be indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the Acquisition had been completed on an earlier date, and
should not be taken as representative of our future consolidated results of operations or financial condition. Preparation of the unaudited pro
forma combined financial information for all periods presented required management to make certain judgments and estimates to determine
the transaction accounting adjustments, such as purchase accounting adjustments, which include, among others, amortization charges from
acquired intangible assets. This information has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, and is for informational
purposes only and is subject to a number of uncertainties and assumptions as described in the accompanying notes.
The unaudited pro forma combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 is based on the historical balance sheets of us and
RentPath and have been prepared to reflect the Acquisition and related adjustments as if the Acquisition had been consummated on March
31, 2021. The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March
31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 combines ours and RentPath’s historical consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss) as if the Acquisition had been consummated on January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma combined financial statements
noted above are also presented under FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenues from Contracts with Customers, and FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases,
for both us and RentPath.
Note 2: Calculation of Purchase Price Consideration and Purchase Price Allocation
Calculation of Purchase Price Consideration—The fair value of consideration transferred on the closing date includes cash
consideration in the amount of $608,000.
Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation—The total purchase price has been allocated to RentPath’s tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value at April 2, 2021.
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The preliminary allocation of the purchase price is as follows:
Assets acquired
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill

$

Total assets acquired
Liabilities assumed
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
$

Net assets acquired

6,939
7,324
3,103
12,330
211,000
407,824
648,520
(1,531)
(9,150)
(29,839)
(40,520)
608,000

Identifiable intangible assets—The identifiable intangible assets include trade names, an application platform, and customer
relationships. Trade names primarily relate to the RentPath brand. The application platform relates to the RentPath website and mobile
application and is the primary channel for meeting customers. Customer relationships represent existing contracts that relate primarily to
underlying customer relationships.
Goodwill—Approximately $407,824 has been allocated to goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the
fair value of the net assets acquired. In accordance with FASB ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, goodwill will not be amortized but
instead will be tested for impairment at least annually (more frequently if certain indicators are present). In the event that we determine the
value of goodwill has become impaired, we will incur an accounting charge for the amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which the
determination is made.
Note 3: Bankruptcy Adjustments
The following adjustments reflect RentPath’s liability amounts that were transferred to Wind Down Co. and will not be obligations
assumed by us as part of the Acquisition, in addition to costs that were incurred directly by RentPath as a result of the bankruptcy
proceeding:
a. Adjustment to eliminate liabilities that were transferred to Wind Down Co. in accordance with the Bankruptcy Court’s order and the
Agreement.
b. Adjustment to eliminate debtors-in-possession financing that was transferred to Wind Down Co. in accordance with the Bankruptcy
Court’s order and the Agreement.
c. Adjustment to eliminate reorganization items relating entirely to RentPath's bankruptcy proceedings from the unaudited pro forma
combined statement of comprehensive income (loss) as these items are directly attributable to RentPath’s chapter 11 reorganization and are
included in the historical results.
d. Adjustment to eliminate cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash that were not transferred to us and were transferred to
Wind Down Co.
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Note 4. Transaction Accounting Adjustments
The transaction accounting adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements are as follows:
e. Adjustments to reflect the cash purchase price of $608,000 which included $60,800 of restricted cash.
f. Adjustment to eliminate internal-use software assets, which RentPath historically classified within property and equipment, net, but
are deemed part of the Application Platform intangible asset acquired by us that will be recognized at fair value as a result of the Acquisition.
Refer to adjustment “h” below for information regarding the fair value of acquired intangible assets.
g. Adjustment to reflect the implementation of ASC 842 by RentPath to conform to the adoption date as a public business entity and
our associated accounting policies.
h. Adjustment to record the fair value of acquired intangible assets of $211,000 and goodwill of $407,824.
i. Adjustment for transaction costs incurred, or are expected to be incurred, by us or RentPath after March 31, 2021, which have not
yet been included in historical financial statements.
Balance Sheet

Income Statement
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021

As of March 31, 2021
Transaction costs incurred by RentPath
Transaction costs incurred by Redfin

$

Total transaction costs

$

— $
(5,615)
(5,615) $

—
(5,615)
(5,615)

j. Adjustment to eliminate RentPath’s historical equity balances, including common stock.
k. Adjustment to record amortization of intangible assets recorded as a result of the measurement of RentPath’s assets and liabilities
at fair value and to reduce depreciation due to internal-use software being reclassified and recognized as an intangible asset upon
completion of the acquisition. The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:
Estimated useful lives
(in years)
Trade names
Application platform
Customer relationships

10
3
10

l. Adjustment to eliminate RentPath’s interest expense as it was related to debt that was not transferred to us.
m. Adjustment to eliminate RentPath’s other income of $5,895 and $52,037 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three
months ended March 31, 2021, respectively. These costs consisted primarily of unrealized losses on derivatives and a $52,000 break-up fee
received from an affiliate of CoStar Group, Inc. (“CoStar”) during the three months ended March 31, 2021, due to the termination of
RentPath’s agreement to be acquired by CoStar. As this transaction would not have occurred if we had acquired RentPath on January 1,
2020, we determined RentPath’s other income balances should be eliminated for pro forma purposes.
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n. Adjustment to eliminate RentPath’s realized gain on cash flow hedges as of December 31, 2020, as the associated interest rate
swap contracts related to debt that was not transferred to us.
o. Adjustment to remove $12,988 of deferred tax liabilities not assumed by us and transferred to Wind Down Co. and the addition of
$17,743 of deferred tax liabilities resulting from purchase accounting adjustments, in particular, the step up in financial reporting basis of the
intangible assets acquired. Our estimate for deferred taxes is preliminary and could be subject to material change based on our further
analysis of certain tax attributes acquired and as we finalize other aspects of the allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition.
Specifically, we have not completed our evaluation of limitations that exist under current U.S. tax law that may limit or enhance the availability
of net operating loss carryforwards acquired in the acquisition of RentPath. If we determine those attributes are realizable, the amount of
deferred taxes presented in the historical pro forma financial statements could result in a net deferred tax asset subject to a valuation
allowance.
p. Adjustment to reflect a net income tax benefit resulting from adjustments to current state tax expense to account for combined
filings and deferred tax expense to 1) remove $12,988 of deferred tax liabilities not assumed by us and transferred to Wind Down Co., 2)
adjust valuation allowance with respect to certain tax attributes, and 3) amortization of acquired intangibles as a result of purchase
accounting for the period. Our estimate for income tax expense is preliminary and could be subject to material change based on our further
analysis of certain tax attributes acquired and as we finalize other aspects of the allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition.
Specifically, we have not completed our evaluation of limitations that exist under current U.S. tax law that may limit or enhance the availability
of net operating loss carryforwards acquired in the acquisition of RentPath. Upon completion of our analysis of the attributes acquired and
their realizability, the amount of income tax benefit presented in the historical pro forma financial statements could materially change. A
breakout of the adjustment made is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Current income taxes
Historical deferred income taxes
Pro forma deferred income taxes

$

Total adjustment to benefit (provision) for income taxes

$

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
1,041 $
(4,231)
8,670
5,480 $

234
(184)
2,179
2,229

Note 5: Reclassification Adjustments
Certain reclassification adjustments have been made to the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements to conform
RentPath’s historical financial statement presentation to our financial statement presentation. The unaudited pro forma combined balance
sheet is presented as of March 31, 2021 and the unaudited pro forma combined consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) is
presented for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021. The reclassification adjustments did not
impact total assets, total liabilities, or total shareholders’ equity. There was no impact to net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 and
there was an increase of $1,185 to net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The following reclassification adjustments were
made to the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements to conform RentPath’s presentation to our presentation:
q. Adjustment to record RentPath’s prepaid commissions expense to conform to our accounting policies.
r. Reclassification of RentPath’s other noncurrent liabilities to payroll tax liabilities, noncurrent to conform to our balance sheet
presentation given the nature of the underlying transactions in the account.
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s. Reclassification of RentPath’s expenses to cost of revenue for a net increase of $13,593 for year ended December 31, 2020 and
$3,775 increase for the three months ended March 31, 2021. A breakout of the reclassifications made is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Cost of revenue to general and administrative
Depreciation to cost of revenue
General and administrative to cost of revenue
Marketing and selling to cost of revenue
Depreciation and amortization adjustment of intangible assets to cost of revenue

$

Net change

$

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
(8) $
1,437
205
10,955
1,004
13,593 $

(1)
454
51
2,894
377
3,775

t. Reclassification of RentPath’s costs to technology and development expense for a net increase of $49,914 for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and $12,018 increase for the three months ended March 31, 2021. A breakout of the reclassifications made is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Amortization to technology and development
Depreciation to technology and development
General and administrative to technology and development
Marketing and selling to technology and development
Depreciation and amortization adjustment of intangible assets to technology and
development

$

Net change

$

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
1,742
16,733
10,493
9,260
11,686
49,914

$

424
3,600
2,692
2,308
2,994
12,018

$

u. Reclassification of RentPath’s expenses to and from marketing for a net decrease of $64,842 for the year ended December 31,
2020 and $15,290 decrease for the three months ended March 31, 2021. A breakout of the reclassifications made is as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Depreciation to marketing
Marketing to cost of revenue
Marketing to general and administrative
Marketing to technology and development
Depreciation and amortization adjustment of intangible assets to marketing

$

Net change

$
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
590 $
(10,955)
(45,630)
(9,260)
413
(64,842) $

155
(2,894)
(10,372)
(2,308)
129
(15,290)

v. Reclassification of RentPath’s depreciation expense to conform to our income statement presentation. We do not separately
present depreciation expense on the statement of comprehensive income (loss). The net decrease of depreciation expense was $34,846 for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and $8,641 for the three months ended March 31, 2021. A breakout of the reclassifications made is
as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Depreciation to cost of revenue
Depreciation to general and administrative
Depreciation to marketing
Depreciation to technology and development
To remove depreciation and amortization adjustment of intangible assets which was
allocated to other captions

$

Net change

$

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
(1,438) $
(1,756)
(590)
(16,733)

(454)
(509)
(155)
(3,600)

(14,329)
(34,846) $

(3,923)
(8,641)

w. Reclassification of RentPath’s amortization of intangible asset to technology and development expense for a net decrease of
$1,742 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and $424 decrease for the three months ended March 31, 2021. We do not separately
present amortization of intangibles as its statement of comprehensive income (loss).
x. Reclassification of RentPath’s costs to and from general and administrative expense for a net increase of $37,923 for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and $8,562 increase for the three months ended March 31, 2021. A breakout of the reclassifications made is as
follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2020
Depreciation to general and administrative
General and administrative to cost of revenue
General and administrative to technology and development
Marketing to general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets to general and administrative

$

Net change

$
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
1,756 $
(205)
(10,493)
45,630
1,235
37,923 $

509
(51)
(2,692)
10,372
424
8,562

